

CIHR IRSC Institute of Gender and Health Institut de la santé des femmes et des hommes

RESEARCH PRIORITY PLAN 2024-2029

Strengths to Solutions

Advancing Sex and Gender Science for Healthy Futures









LAND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

In keeping with Indigenous protocols for building respectful relationships and grounding our own work as active participants on a journey of Truth and Reconciliation, we would like to acknowledge that the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Institute of Gender and Health (IGH) is situated on the traditional, unceded and ancestral lands of the Coast Salish people, including the Skwxwú7mesh Úxwumixw (Squamish), səĺilŵəta?ł (Tsleil-Waututh) and xwməθkwəỷə (Musqueam) Nations. We acknowledge that our work extends to the traditional territories and ancestral lands of many Indigenous people across Turtle Island. We are grateful to continually learn from Indigenous people. We are committed to addressing the impacts of racist and colonial policies in Canada by supporting sex, gender, and health research that values Indigenous ways of knowing and strives to address inequities.

We also wish to acknowledge all those who came to these lands as settlers — as migrants either in this generation or in generations past — and those who came here involuntarily, particularly those brought to these lands as a result of the Trans-Atlantic Slave Trade and slavery. We are mindful of broken covenants and strive to make this right, with the land and with each other.^[1]



Canadian Institutes of Health Research Institute of Gender and Health

- Simon Fraser University Harbour Centre Campus Suite 2400, 515 West Hastings Street Vancouver, BC V6B 5K3

© His Majesty the King in Right of Canada (2024) Cat. No. MR4-188/2024E-PDF ISBN 978-0-660-72101-9 June 2024



Table of Contents

Message from the Scientific Director and Elder-In-Residence	4
Understanding IGH's Role and Our Way Forward	6
Our Vision and Values	7
Our Mandate	8
Our Priorities at a Glance	9
Our Alignment with CIHR	10
What We've Done to Inform IGH's Research Priority Plan	11
National IGH Listening Tour	11
The Evolving Science of Sex, Gender and Health	12
The Social Context of IGH's Work has Shifted	12
Our Research Priorities for the Future	13
PRIORITY 1: Driving Systemic Change for Sex and Gender ⁺ Integration	13
PRIORITY 2: Advancing Sex and Gender Science	16
PRIORITY 3: Investing in Sex and Gender Research for Health Equity	20
3.1 2S/LGBTQI+ Health	21
3.2 Women's Health	22
3.3 Gender and Health Within Indigenous and Black Communities	22
What's Next	24
References	25

MESSAGE FROM THE SCIENTIFIC DIRECTOR AND ELDER-IN-RESIDENCE

On behalf of the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Institute of Gender and Health (IGH), it is our great honour to share the IGH Research Priority Plan for 2024-2029.

Since its creation, IGH has been a leader in advancing sex, gender and health research in Canada and around the world. Owing to the legacies of former IGH Scientific Directors, today CIHR ranks first for appropriate integration of sex, gender and intersectional factors in health research funding policies¹. These efforts have led to scientific discoveries that are yielding positive health impacts for men, women, boys, girls and gender-diverse communities.

We will continue to build on this strong foundation, shaping a bold vision for sex, gender and health research that centres the communities our research aims to serve.

To meet the challenges ahead, we have chosen a model of leadership for IGH, with a CIHR-appointed Scientific Director and an Indigenous Elder-in-Residence. We are resolute that sex, gender and health research is necessary to improve the health and well-being of all people in Canada. At the same time, we acknowledge that efforts to disregard Indigenous and other cultural constructions of gender and ways of knowing have hampered opportunities for inclusion and impact.

Charting a way forward will require us to weave together different but complementary expertise, perspectives and approaches. We begin by sharing our own positionality — Angela as a mixed race (Black, Indian and white), Black-identified East African woman and immigrant settler to Canada and Elder Sheila as a Two-Spirit mixed Syilx woman and member of the Lower Similkameen Indian Band in the Okanagan Valley of British Columbia. Weaving our strengths offers tremendous potential for sophisticated and necessary learnings about how to advance, generate and mobilize sex and gender science to improve health and gender equity. Our leadership model is an enactment of IGH's commitment to <u>Truth and Reconciliation</u>² and applied learning on how to engage in good research "in a good way" and in good relations. As part of our learning, we have reflected on the <u>Seven Generation Principle</u>³ and the idea that we are connected to communities that transcend time. This principle encourages us to consider the impacts of our actions for the seven generations coming after us and to remember the seven generations that came before us. We are affected by the contributions, decisions and actions of the past, and accept the responsibility to create benefits for those in the future.

In alignment with this principle, activities over the past seven generations have led us to an exciting and potentially transformative time for sex, gender and health research. Public awareness of sex and gender has increased tremendously, with conversations about these topics moving out of academic spaces and into nearly every sphere of our lives. Sexually and gender-diverse people are more visible and vibrant than ever before and this representation matters.

But this visibility can bring with it increased risk of being targeted by those who seek to suppress diversity and restrict bodily sovereignty. Our current time is also one of hateful movements that inflict extraordinary harm on sexual and gender minorities — harm that ripples within and across additional equity-deserving groups.

Our Institute has both a role and a responsibility to contribute to a community-informed, robust sex, gender and health research evidence base that prioritizes and works to advance healthy futures of our communities. Sex, gender and other intersectional considerations are pivotal to addressing the complex challenges of our time,

Δ



including widening health and social inequities, the COVID-19 response, climate change, the primary care crisis, and rapid advancements in artificial intelligence. Across these challenges and many others, IGH has a key role to play and we are committed to working towards a shared vision of health and gender equity for all, by advancing, generating and mobilizing sex and gender science.

In our first year, we embarked on a Listening Tour⁴ and national planning process to co-create this new Research Priority Plan that will guide our work together. We were honoured to meet and build relations with Institute Advisory Board members, researchers and trainees across the <u>four pillars⁵</u> of health research, CIHR staff, policymakers, government leaders, health professionals, patients, community leaders and advocates, Indigenous people, people with lived and living experience of health and gender inequity and many other members of the IGH community. Thank you to the hundreds of you who have joined us on the journey to map our path forward, building on our strengths to deliver solutions.

We are moved by the excitement, deep commitment and felt urgency of the IGH community regarding research and action on sex, gender and health and the willingness to push ourselves and our science to improve health and gender equity. We approach the work ahead with humility and resolve.



Angela Kaida, PhD (she/her) Scientific Director CIHR Institute of Gender and Health



Sheila ANyman

Elder Sheila Nyman, BSW, MSW (she/they) Sal Uni At Kn - Knowledge Holder Elder-in-Residence CIHR Institute of Gender and Health

Understanding IGH's Role and Our Way Forward



IGH plays a unique and vital role in the Canadian health research ecosystem. IGH is:

A national and international **leader** in advancing sex and gender science, both as a distinct field of scientific study and as a practice imperative in health research.

A **catalyst**, driving advancements in sex and gender science, building community and growing capacity for research through its funding and training initiatives.

A **change agent**, achieving structural transformations in funding practices aimed at enabling sex and gender integration across all health research and peer review at CIHR.

Committed to **advancing knowledge** and **transforming inequities** through its investments in intersectional research of the health needs of communities disproportionately affected by sex and gender inequities.

While IGH has achieved much over the past two decades, the Institute's work is not done. Acknowledging our role and building on our strengths, IGH's Research Priority Plan for 2024-2029 advances a bold new vision for the way forward and articulates a path toward realizing this vision, grounded in Seven Generation thinking.

OUR VISION AND VALUES



IGH envisions a future in which there is health and gender equity for all, by advancing, generating, and mobilizing sex and gender science.

To achieve its vision, IGH takes it as a given that the Institute's work must be:

- Grounded in respect for Indigenous knowledge, ways of knowing and self-determination and committed to Truth and Reconciliation.
- Committed to a nuanced scientific understanding of how health is shaped by the multidimensional construct of **sex as a biological attribute of humans and animals**, as well as by the multiple and temporal dimensions of **gender as a social and cultural construct** (inclusive of gender identity, gender roles, gender relations, and institutionalized gender) and their interactions across the lifecourse.
- Advancing beyond the sex and gender binary by examining sex and gender-related factors and processes that influence health, as an alternative to describing sex and gender differences using hegemonic categories.
- Enriched by the lens and tools of intersectionality including the understanding that gender intersects with other social positions, identities, determinants, privileges and oppressions to shape our health (i.e., "gender").
- **Focused on areas of most need**, including communities disproportionately experiencing sex, gender and health inequities and areas of sex and gender science that are understudied, underrepresented, and under-reported.

- Inclusive of community as research partners in ways that progress partnership activities from marginalization to community ownership⁵.
- Actively **strengths-based** and aware that there is solidarity, resilience, and resistance in the face of intersecting forms of marginalization.
- Enabling of research focused on studying populations deeply, by supporting small and large sample size research using quantitative, qualitative, mixed methods, and co-produced research methods.
- Actively nurturing and building relationships and research funding partnerships with other CIHR Institutes and external partners.
- Reflective of our mandate that engages all <u>four pillars</u>⁶ of health research (biomedical; clinical; health services; and social, cultural, environmental and population health).
- Inclusive of senior and mid-career researchers, early career researchers, trainees, clinician scientists, policymakers, community partners, people with lived and living experience of health and gender inequity and Indigenous people and communities.

7

The IGH vision and values are represented in our refreshed visuals.



Grounded in IGH's leadership model, the woven design symbolizes the ways in which IGH is weaving Indigenous ways of knowing, being and doing with western science. It further represents intersectionality and integration, with the two round nodes symbolizing sex and gender. The four colours represent the four pillars of health research and embody the sacredness of the number four within some Indigenous worldviews, nodding to the four elements and four directions. All of this is held by the circle, showing our commitment to a lifecourse and whole-of-person approach to health research.

OUR MANDATE

At CIHR, we know that research has the power to change lives. As Canada's health research investment agency, we collaborate with partners and researchers to support the discoveries and innovations that improve our health and strengthen our health care system.

As one of 13 CIHR institutes, the Institute of Gender and Health's mandate is to foster research excellence regarding the influence of sex and gender on health and to apply these findings to identify and address pressing health challenges facing men, women, girls, boys and gender-diverse people.

-

OUR PRIORITIES AT A GLANCE

IGH's Research Priority Plan for 2024-2029 builds on our legacy while finding inspiration and accountability in the Institute's vision and the givens necessary to realize it. Over the next five years, IGH will focus its efforts and resources on three priorities.



OUR ALIGNMENT WITH CIHR

CIHR's actions are guided by a bold 10-year strategic plan (2021–2031)⁷ that aims to achieve the best health for all, powered by outstanding research. IGH's Research Priority Plan for 2024-2029 is deeply aligned with CIHR's strategic plan overall, including all five strategic priorities.

IGH's work is also aligned with and informed by <u>CIHR's values</u>⁷ of excellence and leadership; commitment to collaboration; respect for people; and integrity and accountability.

To deliver on its Research Priority Plan for 2024-2029, IGH will undertake activities to Advance Research Excellence, Bridge Capacity and Mobilize Knowledge. These activities align with three of the five strategic priorities outlined in <u>CIHR's 2021–2031</u> strategic plan (Priority A, B, and E)⁷. CIHR's other two strategic priorities — Accelerate the Self-Determination of Indigenous Peoples in Health Research (Priority C) and Pursue Health Equity through Research (Priority D) — cut across all of IGH's Research Priorities.

IGH is also directly aligned with CIHR's strong focus on the principles of equity, diversity and inclusion (EDI) and is uniquely positioned to contribute to CIHR's efforts to deliver on its EDI commitments using a strong lens on sex and gender. In parallel, IGH has developed its Research Priority Plan for 2024-2029 with recognition that sex and gender science is a discrete field of study that will benefit from and require IGH's leadership.

CIHR STRATEGIC PLAN PRIORITIES (2021-2031)



PRIORITY A Advance Research Excellence in All Its Diversity

Strengthen Canadian Health



PRIORITY D Pursue Health Equity through Research



PRIORITY E Integrate Evidence in Health Decisions





PRIORITY C

PRIORITY B

Research Capacity

Accelerate the Self-Determination of Indigenous Peoples in Health Research

What We've Done to Inform IGH's Research Priority Plan

IGH was created in 2000 in response to scientific and policy-driven needs for more robust evidence on how sex and gender affect health across the lifespan, as well as advancements in the methods used to generate and apply these research findings. These remain key drivers of IGH's work 24 years later. However, the field of sex and gender science has evolved and grown considerably since IGH's founding.

NATIONAL LISTENING TOUR

To better understand the state of the field and community priorities, IGH undertook a national Listening Tour in 2023. There, the Institute heard from more than 500 people at 19 events across the country. We convened senior and mid-career researchers, early career researchers, trainees, university leaders and community partners. We made a concerted effort to include community partners as key participants in the Listening Tour to enact our commitment to the meaningful engagement of people with lived and living experience of health and gender inequity in sex and gender research, to the creation of the Research Priority Plan itself.

As outlined in our <u>What We Heard</u> report⁴, Listening Tour attendees affirmed the need for IGH to cement our role and responsibilities as a leader in sex, gender and health research and identified clear research priorities for the years ahead. Their voices are reflected in this Research Priority Plan.





THE EVOLVING SCIENCE OF SEX, GENDER AND HEALTH

We have examined the learnings from the Listening Tour along those championed by IGH, have significantly progressed sex and gender integration at the grant application stage. However, there is not yet sufficient consideration of sex and gender at the stages of data collection, analysis and publishing⁸. We also examined understudied sex, gender and health research topics and evidence pointing to the benefits of investing in research on underfunded populations facing systemic health inequities relevant to sex and gender⁹. Identifying these underfunded, understudied and underreported areas has further informed and refined the areas of focus in this Research Priority Plan.



THE SOCIAL CONTEXT OF IGH'S WORK HAS SHIFTED

We are in a period of rapid social change around sex and gender. There is greater understanding of and support for gender and sexual diversity, with growing numbers of Canadians publicly identifying as transgender or non-binary. The 2021 Census of Canada showed that one in 300 people in Canada aged 15 and older identified as transgender or non-binary, close to two-thirds of whom (62%) are under age 35¹⁰. There is a growing evidence base regarding the health benefits of affirming diverse gender identities¹¹⁻¹³, and calls for areas where additional healthcare evidence is needed. Encouragingly, there is broad support in many circles for a more diverse and inclusive understanding of sex and gender. However, in some contexts, there are movements toward politicization, backlash and denial of human rights for gender-diverse and 2S/LGBTQI+^[2] people. These movements work to advance discriminatory actions, which aim to restrict genderdiverse and 2S/LGBTQI+ peoples' access to care and ability to exist safely in public, yielding material impacts on health and well-being.

Sex and gender science has an important role to play in this context, as there is a need for robust and community-engaged scientific inquiry into how sex and gender (and their interactions) impact our health. Here, IGH's leadership will be crucial, as informed by the Institute's "givens" and commitment to an intersectional, equity-centred and community partnered approach to our work. This shifting social context has informed the way forward outlined in this Research Priority Plan for 2024-2029.

Our Research Priorities for the Future

Driving Systemic Change for Sex and Gender⁺ Integration

Many of today's gendered health inequities in prevention, diagnosis, treatment and care are attributable to reliance on a biased and incomplete scientific evidence base disproportionately informed by research with male cells, male models and men across animal models, clinical research and experimental and observational health research. Underrepresentation of female cells, female models, women and gender-diverse people in health research has had dire consequences, including biased and incomplete research findings and the development of drugs, treatments and policies that do not work or are harmful to women and gender-diverse people^{14, 15}.

For more than two decades, IGH has been a <u>national and international leader</u> in redressing these inequities by advancing the integration of sex and gender in health research¹⁶. Driven by IGH's leadership and advocacy, CIHR made it mandatory in 2010–11 for all funding applicants to explain whether and how sex and gender considerations are factored into their studies. By 2022, 90% of CIHR funding applications integrated sex (up from 22% in 2011) and 40% integrated gender (up from 12% in 2011)¹⁶. A goal of these IGH-led policy changes is to make CIHR-funded science more rigorous and policies more inclusive, while increasing research impact and opening the door to new scientific discoveries.

Expanding the breadth and quality of sex and gender integration at CIHR has contributed to several major scientific breakthroughs, from sex differences in chronic pain (with pain transmission mediated by microglia in males and likely T-cells in females) to the discovery of pre-existing *Escherichia coli* antibodies in female mice but not males¹⁶. IGH has also influenced clinical practice guidelines and federal health policies to become sex and gender-informed, and inspired funders in Canada and internationally to prioritize sex and gender integration in health research. Understanding that the COVID-19 pandemic would have disproportionate and different impacts on communities, IGH provided a guide for researchers regarding how to consider the impacts of COVID-19 considering sex and gender through an intersectional lens¹⁷.

Sex and gender integration is now a priority across CIHR. In 2021, CIHR created a Learning Health Systems portfolio with an <u>Equity Strategy</u> Branch¹⁸ and a Science Policy Branch with responsibility for <u>CIHR's Sex and Gender-Based Analysis (SGBA)</u> in <u>Research Action Plan</u>¹⁹. Together, they have a CIHR-wide mandate to develop and evolve CIHR's policies to reduce bias in the research funding ecosystem, addressing who, what, and how research is funded.

The next five years will require responsive, innovative and dynamic efforts to advance the quality of sex and gender integration in health research, from grant application, data collection and analysis, to reporting findings by sex and gender, and through to knowledge mobilization. Working across these domains is an invaluable opportunity for IGH to work in partnership and collaboration with CIHR's Learning Health Systems portfolio, contributing to CIHR's efforts to increase equity and reduce bias in research funding. These efforts will demand attention to methods, theories, practices, analytic approaches and capacity bridging. Such efforts will be even more necessary as we broaden sex and gender considerations to include other intersectional factors that influence health and well-being.

Driving Systemic Change for Sex and Gender⁺ Integration

GOAL

We will drive transformation of the health research ecosystem through improved integration of sex and/or gender⁺ in health research and knowledge mobilization initiatives.

To achieve this goal, IGH will focus on strengthening its efforts in three areas:

Advance Research Excellence

- Drive culture change across the research ecosystem to overcome persistent barriers to the integration of sex and gender (e.g., study design, data capture and collection, data analysis, reporting and publication)
- Develop and advance methodological guidance for how to integrate sex and gender in research, including how to incorporate the lens and tools of intersectionality (i.e., gender*).

Bridge Capacity

- Modernize the online training module curriculum on <u>Integrating Sex & Gender</u> <u>in Health Research</u> and develop a new module with and for community research partners²⁰.
- Contribute to the development and improvement of peer reviewer training, processes and expectations aimed at advancing appropriate assessment of the quality of sex and gender integration.

Knowledge Mobilization



- Convene and contribute to communities of practice in sex, gender and intersectional factors integration into health research.
- Promote best practice standards of sex and gender integration in research and knowledge mobilization, including how to increase sex, gender, and intersectional diversity of participants in human health studies.

Cross-cutting CIHR Priorities

14



Indigenous Self-Determination in Health Research



Health Equity

What is "capacity bridging"?

We use the term "capacity bridging" to acknowledge and honour the IGH community's existing capacity, including training, professional expertise and lived and living experience. Our community has called on IGH to build bridges from existing capacity toward greater capacities and success in research and impact on sex, gender and health. We thank Indigenous women who, as health researchers and community leaders, conceptualized and evolved the concept of capacity bridging.

Advancing Sex and Gender Science

2 RIORITY Δ

Sex and gender science has gained momentum as a distinct field of study since IGH's founding. There is a growing community of scholars dedicated to advancing knowledge, theories and methods for sex and gender science and applying this evidence to improve health. For this field to continue evolving, we need to move beyond describing sex differences and gender disparities by normative sex and gender categories to examining and understanding the sex and gender-related factors and processes that drive them, and how they intersect. This will help us explain why we see differences (or similarities), understand when those differences matter and their causal pathways and identify solutions to address related health inequities.

This priority is aimed at supporting robust sex and gender science with the potential to lead to discovery and action on sex-related biological mechanisms and/or gender-related social processes. Within this priority, we acknowledge that sex and gender interact to shape our health, as a function of the experience of being sexed bodies in gendered social contexts²¹. Such an approach enables us to advance intersectional research that centres sex and gender while considering how they intersect with other identities (e.g., age, ability, socio-economic status, sexual orientation, race/ethnicity) and social processes (e.g., sexism, ageism, ableism, classism, homophobia, transphobia, racism and other forms of discrimination) to shape our health.

As the only health research funding institute in Canada with a specific focus on sex, gender and health, IGH has a key leadership role in advancing sex and gender science by advancing research, bridging capacity, and convening communities for sex, gender, and health research and knowledge mobilization.

What is intersectionality and why does it matter in quantitative health research?

Intersectionality is a Black feminist theoretical framework with origins as early as the 1850s. The term was first coined by Kimberlé Crenshaw in 1989 to name the experiences of Black women who face intersecting and cumulative forms of oppression and discrimination (racism and sexism). An intersectional framework assumes that an individual's experiences are not simply equal to the sum of their parts but represent intersections of axes of social power. For example, the health-related experiences of immigrant women may be different from those of immigrant men and nonimmigrant women. In Sex- and Gender-Based Analysis Plus (SGBA+), we discuss

intersectionality as an extension of sex and gender analysis, but intersectionality also originates in critical race theory and can be applied across other social identities or positions in society (social positions).



While qualitative intersectional approaches are welldeveloped, quantitative approaches are less so, because of the challenges inherent in capturing and analysing intersections of social power and their causal effects on outcomes in discrete, categorical data points. A key question in quantitative intersectional research is whose experiences, outcomes, or processes need to be examined or made visible. By investigating population heterogeneity in the context of social power and studying processes of oppression, discrimination and privilege, we can develop interventions that are directly relevant to specific communities. Learn more.

As described in the IGH Meet The Methods series: "<u>Quantitative</u> <u>intersectional study design and primary data collection</u>" written by Greta Bauer. February 2021.

What are sex- and gender-related factors?

'Sex' and 'gender' are often used interchangeably, despite having different meanings.

Sex refers to a set of biological attributes in humans and animals. It is primarily associated with physical and physiological features including chromosomes, gene expression, hormone levels and function and reproductive/ sexual anatomy. Sex is usually categorized as female or male but there is variation in the biological attributes that comprise sex and how those attributes are expressed.

Sex-related factors may include chromosomal complement, gene expression, anthropometric factors, reproductive organs, hormonal milieu and/or sex assigned at birth.

Gender refers to the socially constructed roles, behaviours, expressions and identities of girls, women, boys, men and gender-diverse people. Gender influences how people perceive themselves and each other, how they act and interact, and the distribution of power and resources in society. Gender identity includes girl/woman, boy/man, non-binary and additional gender-diverse identities. Gender is not static; it exists along a continuum and can change over time. There is considerable diversity in how individuals and groups understand, experience and express gender through the roles they take on, the expectations placed on them, relations with others and the complex ways that gender is institutionalized in society.

Gender-related factors may include gender identity, gender roles, gender relations and institutionalized gender¹⁵.

In humans (and intriguingly, perhaps in animals), sex and gender can interact with gendered experiences influencing biological phenomena (and vice versa)²¹.

DIMENSIONS OF SEX, GENDER AND INTERSECTIONALITY





Advancing Sex and Gender Science

GOAL We will advance sex and gender science as a distinct field of scholarship by catalyzing a renewed focus on mechanisms and processes.

To achieve this goal, IGH will focus on strengthening its efforts in three areas:

Advance Research Excellence

- Fund research on new and improved methods to advance measures, tools, analysis and/or approaches to understand and/or address sex and gender-related factors and processes.
- Champion research that develops, implements and evaluates solutions to address sex-related differences and gender inequities in health.
- Fund research focused on discovering and examining sex and gender-related factors, mechanisms and processes to help understand why we see differences (or similarities) in health across the lifecourse.

Bridge Capacity

- Host and support IGH Summer Institutes for trainees, researchers, mentors, community partners and Indigenous leaders across the four pillars to advance sex and gender science.
- Fund, support and inspire trainees and the next generation of sex and gender health scientists.

Knowledge Mobilization

- Support specific sex and gender science knowledge mobilization activities within high-priority health domains, including to help drive policy.
- Connect policymakers to the sex, gender, and health scientific and community expertise required to make informed and equity-oriented decisions.
- Mobilize what we learn from sex and gender science into better sex and gender integration practices, and to influence sex and gender-informed policy, programs and healthcare solutions.

Cross-cutting CIHR Priorities



Indigenous Self-Determination in Health Research



3

PRIORITY

Investing in Sex and Gender Research for Health Equity

IGH serves the health of all Canadians yet recognizes that there are groups in Canada who experience health inequities related to intersecting social categories of sex and gender diversity. Community input gathered through IGH's Listening Tour affirmed the need to create a health equity-oriented Research Priority Plan focused on underfunded populations facing significant and systemic health disparities.

Our assessment of IGH's strengths, community and areas of need for research funding and impact identified **three widely-supported areas of focus for IGH's Research Priority Plan**: The IGH community has researchers and community partners with the expertise, lived and living experience, relationships, theoretical groundings and approaches necessary to advance research in these three areas of focus. As the state of research and action in each of these focus areas is different, IGH will take a purpose-built approach to delivering on these priorities by working with our community to identify the most relevant and impactful ways forward. Crucially, this work will be inclusive of community as research co-producers towards enabling community ownership of research.



Two-Spirit and LGBTQI+ (2S/LGBTQI+) health^[2]

Women's health^[3]



People of all sexes (male, female, intersex) and gender identities (men and boys, women and girls, and gender-diverse people) are included across these three areas of focus, and an intersectional approach will enable representation from many additional communities.

It is within this priority that we can most fulsomely develop practices for community-engaged research approaches that are equity-centred and engage with the tools and lens of intersectionality.





The populations of 2S/LGBTQI+ people in Canada are growing, yet there is a dearth of intersectional, strengths-based, community-driven research on the health needs of these communities. This contributes to 2S/LGBTQI+ health inequities and limits capacity for the development and implementation of evidence-informed policies aimed at addressing these inequities.

Recent data has shown that research grants focused on 2S/LGBTQI+-specific health comprised only 0.35% of total CIHR project and operating grants funded from 2009–2020⁹. Research funders like IGH have an important role to play in remedying this gap. By prioritizing this area, we can advance knowledge and community-informed application of that knowledge while further positioning IGH, CIHR and Canada as a global leader in 2S/LGBTQI+ health research.

Supporting intersectional, community-engaged research and knowledge mobilization is crucial to ensure that policies and programs relevant to 2S/LGBTQI+ communities across Canada are informed by robust scientific evidence and reflective of community strengths, needs and solutions.



"What and Who is Two-Spirit?" in Health Research

Two-Spirit is a term coined by Indigenous lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, queer, and/or nonheterosexual (LGBTQ+) leaders at the Third Annual Intertribal Native American/First Nations Gay and Lesbian Conference in Winnipeg in 1990.

Two-Spirit is a community organizing tool for Indigenous Peoples of Turtle Island who embody diverse sexualities, gender identities, roles and/or expressions.

Two-Spirit is a way to challenge Western constructions of gender and sexual orientation and is meant to facilitate Indigenous Peoples' connections with Nation-specific expressions, culture, and roles of gender and sexual diversity.

As described in the IGH Meet The Methods series: <u>"What</u> <u>and who is Two-Spirit?" in Health research</u> written by Harlan Pruden (nēhiyo/First Nations Cree) and Travis Salway²².



PRIORITY 3.2 Women's health

There is a need for innovation and investment in women's health research aimed at filling knowledge gaps, informing practice and policy and remedying gendered health inequities. Recent analyses have shown extensive unmet needs in women's health, including for female-specific health conditions, conditions that affect women disproportionately or differently and conditions that are underresearched and under-resourced^{23, 24}.

Recent investments have sought to address this gap. A key example is the Government of Canada's \$20M investment in the National Women's Health Research Initiative, delivered over five years (2023–2027) in a partnership between CIHR and Women and Gender Equality Canada (WAGE). IGH has an opportunity to build on the profile of the National Women's Health Research Initiative²⁵ as a first-in-a-generation investment in women's health research. Through the Initiative's incorporation of an intersectional approach, alignment with WAGE priorities and with the growing partnerships and coalitions invested in advancing women's health, we can generate and mobilize a strong evidence base and contribute to transforming the health of women and gender-diverse people in Canada.



PRIORITY 3.3 Gender and health within Indigenous and Black communities

Indigenous and Black people in Canada have sex, gender and health research priorities that differ from white Canadians. Focusing on gender and health priorities within Indigenous and Black communities enables us to examine the ways multiple structural and systemic factors (including anti-Indigenous and anti-Black racism, sexism, ageism, ableism, classism and other forms of discrimination) intersect to impact access to healthcare, health and wellness outcomes of Indigenous and Black communities. Moreover, this priority enables opportunities to examine and support anti-racist approaches to improving health.

The IGH community has the knowledge, skills and relationships necessary to conduct research and knowledge mobilization activities that are community-driven, intersectional and equitycentred. By having this focus, we honour the origins of intersectionality theory by Black feminists and Indigenous women's collectives and build on learnings from funding models such as the IGH co-led <u>Indigenous Gender and Wellness</u>²⁶ research initiative.





22



Investing in Sex and Gender Research for Health Equity

GOAL We will fund community-engaged research on the health needs and priorities of communities experiencing sex and gender-related inequities.

To achieve this goal, IGH will focus on strengthening its efforts in three areas:

Advance Research Excellence

- Prioritize community-engaged crossjurisdictional comparative policy analyses, policy impact analyses, and policy development research that generate evidence needed to support the health of communities experiencing sex disparities and gender inequities.
- Fund multi-phase research initiatives that engage community partners to progress activities from communityinformed research prioritization, grant development, research, and knowledge mobilization.

Bridge Capacity

- Fund equity-deserving trainees, researchers, and clinician scientists who are under-represented in health research (2S/LGBTQI+, women, Indigenous, Black, and racialized people, and those at the intersection of these identities) recognizing that trainees and researchers from equity-deserving communities often lead research by, with, and for equitydeserving communities.
- Convene training opportunities in community-engaged research in sex, gender and health.

Knowledge Mobilization

- Shift practice and standards to resource, validate, and promote knowledge mobilization outputs valued by community partners.
- Leverage IGH's network and positional power to convene and enable relationship building between academic and clinical researchers with community partners and policymakers.

Cross-cutting CIHR Priorities



Indigenous Self-Determination in Health Research



Health Equity

CIHR - IGH | RESEARCH PRIORITY PLAN 2024 - 2029 23

PRIORITY (



What's Next

Implementation and evaluation of IGH's Research Priority Plan for 2024-2029 will be guided by principles of equity, responsiveness and learning orientation. An annual implementation action plan will be published on IGH's website (aligned with the approach used to share CIHR's annual action plans). This approach will enable the IGH community to follow our progress over time.

An accompanying performance measurement framework will guide our evaluation of IGH's work in the context of CIHR's strategic plan. IGH's approach to evaluation, including considerations of accountability, research impact assessment, and organizational learning will be pragmatic and informed by equity-centred evaluation practices, as well as IGH's commitment to weaving together different ways of knowing, expertise, perspectives and approaches.

By delivering on the Research Priority Plan for 2024-2029, IGH will sustain and deepen its transformative impacts and fulfill its roles and responsibilities as Canada's national funding institute for sex, gender and health research.

REFERENCES

1. Hunt L, Nielsen MW, Schiebinger L. A framework for sex, gender, and diversity analysis in research. Science. 2022; 377(6614): 1492-5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.abp9775</u>

2. Government of Canada. Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada. 2022. <u>https://www.rcaanc-cirnac.</u> <u>gc.ca/eng/1450124405592/1529106060525.</u> Accessed 30 March, 2024.

3. Clarkson L, Morrissette V, Régallet G. Our responsibility to the seventh generation: Indigenous peoples and sustainable development. International Institute for Sustainable Development Winnipeg. 1992. https://wgbis.ces.iisc.ac.in/biodiversity/sdev/seventh_ gen.pdf.

4. CIHR Institute of Gender and Health. National Listening Tour 2023: What We Heard Report. 2023. https://cihr-irsc.gc.ca/e/documents/wwh_igh_listeningtour-en.pdf.

5. González R. The spectrum of community engagement to ownership. Facilitating Power. 2019. <u>https://</u> <u>movementstrategy.org/resources/the-spectrum-of-</u> <u>community-engagement-to-ownership/</u>.

6.Canadian Institutes of Health Research. What is health research? 2023. <u>https://cihr-irsc.gc.ca/e/53146.html</u>. Accessed 30 March 2024.

7. Canadian Institutes of Health Research. CIHR Strategic Plan 2021-2031. 2021. <u>https://cihr-irsc.gc.ca/e/52331.</u> <u>html#s_5_3</u>. Accessed 30 March 2024.

8. Rechlin RK, Splinter TF, Hodges TE, Albert AY, Galea LA. An analysis of neuroscience and psychiatry papers published from 2009 and 2019 outlines opportunities for increasing discovery of sex differences. Nature Communications. 2022; 13(1): 2137. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-022-29903-3</u>.

9. Stranges TN, Namchuk AB, Splinter TF, Moore KN, Galea LA. Are we moving the dial? Canadian health research funding trends for women's health, 2S/LGBTQ+ health, sex, or gender considerations. Biology of sex Differences. 2023; 14(1): 40. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13293-023-00524-9</u>.

10. Statistics Canada. Canada is the first country to provide census data on transgender and non-binary people. The Daily. 2022. <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/daily-quotidien/220427/dq220427b-eng.htm</u>. Accessed 30 March, 2024.

11. Vandermorris A, Metzger DL. An affirming approach to caring for transgender and gender-diverse youth. Paediatrics & Child Health. 2023; 28(7): 437-48. <u>https:// doi.org/10.1093/pch/pxad045</u>.

12. Poteat T, Davis AM, Gonzalez A. Standards of care for transgender and gender diverse people. JAMA. 2023; 329(21): 1872-4. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2023.8121</u>.

13. Baker KE, Wilson LM, Sharma R, Dukhanin V, McArthur K, Robinson KA. Hormone therapy, mental health, and quality of life among transgender people: a systematic review. Journal of the Endocrine Society. 2021; 5(4): bvab011. <u>https://doi.org/10.1210/jendso/bvab011</u>.

14. Haverfield J, Tannenbaum C. A 10-year longitudinal evaluation of science policy interventions to promote sex and gender in health research. Health Research Policy and Systems. 2021; 19(1): 94. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12961-021-00741-x</u>.

15. Johnson JL, Greaves L, Repta R. Better science with sex and gender: facilitating the use of a sex and gender-based analysis in health research. International Journal for Equity in Health. 2009; 8: 1-11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1475-9276-8-14</u>.

16. Institute of Gender and Health. A New Era of Sex and Gender Science: Impact Report 2015-2022. 2023. <u>https://cihr-irsc.gc.ca/e/53461.html</u>.

17. CIHR Institute of Gender and Health. Why sex and gender need to be considered in COVID-19 research. 2021. <u>https://cihr-irsc.gc.ca/e/51939.html</u>. Accessed 30 March, 2024.

18. Canadian Institutes of Health Research. Equity, Diversity and Inclusion (EDI) in Action at CIHR: CIHR's Equity Strategy. 2022. <u>https://cihr-irsc.gc.ca/e/52551.</u> <u>html</u>. Accessed 30 March 2024. 19. Canadian Institutes of Health Research. How CIHR is supporting the integration of SGBA. 2018. <u>https://cihr-irsc.gc.ca/e/50837.html</u>. Accessed 30 March 2024.

20. CIHR Institute of Gender and Health. Online Training Modules: Integrating Sex & Gender in Health Research. 2023. <u>https://cihr-irsc.gc.ca/e/49347.html</u>. Accessed 30 March 2024.

 Greaves L, Ritz SA. Sex, gender and health: Mapping the landscape of research and policy. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health.
2022; 19(5): 2563. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19052563</u>.

22. CIHR Institute of Gender and Health. Meet the Methods series: "What and who is Two-Spirit?" in Health Research. 2020. <u>https://cihr-irsc.gc.ca/e/52214.html</u>. Accessed 30 March, 2024.

23. Smith K. Women's health research lacks funding – these charts show how. Nature. 2023; 617(7959) : 28-29. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/37138116/.

24. Innovation Equity Forum. Women's health innovation opportunity map 2023: 50 high-return opportunities to advance global women's health R&D Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation and National Institutes of Health. 2023 https://orwh.od.nih.gov/sites/orwh/files/docs/womenshealth-rnd-opportunity-map_2023_508.pdf.

25. Canadian Institutes of Health Research. National Women's Health Research Initiative. 2022. <u>https://cihr-irsc.gc.ca/e/53095.html</u>. Accessed 30 March 2024.

26. CIHR Institute of Gender and Health. Indigenous Gender and Wellness Team Grants. 2020. <u>https://cihr-irsc.gc.ca/e/51988.html</u>. Accessed 30 March 2024.

END NOTES

^[1] The African Ancestral Acknowledgement in IGH's Land Acknowledgment is inspired by one created by the City of Toronto's Confronting Anti-Black Racism Unit in February 2021. To view theirs, please visit <u>https://www. toronto.ca/wp-content/uploads/2023/01/94b6-africanancestral-acknowledgement-guidance.pdf</u>.

^[2] LGBTQI+ stands for lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, queer and intersex. The plus represents additional sexual and gender-diverse communities who use additional terminologies.

^[3]We use a broad and inclusive definition of women's health research, incorporating both sex as a biological variable and gender as a social variable, across the lifecourse. We include people assigned female at birth, all people who identify as women (cis and trans inclusive), as well as gender-diverse individuals who do not identify as women but who share health challenges in common with women. We acknowledge that not all people who deserve to benefit from inclusive women's health research identify as women and not all people who were assigned female at birth identify as women.

